Defendants With Autism Spectrum Disorder In Criminal Court: A Judges' Toolkit

Colleen M. Berryessa*

ABSTRACT

This Article acts as a toolkit for members of the judiciary on defendants with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD), and specifically looks to equip judges with knowledge, evidence, and resources on recognizing and understanding symptoms of ASD in order to better identify and evaluate diagnosed defendants and their offending behavior. This will allow judges to have impactful and beneficial interactions with defendants, potentially make appropriate procedural and sentencing adjustments before and during the legal process, and better ensure more positive and appropriate legal outcomes for defendants with ASD. First, this Article discusses ways in which judges can identify defendants with ASD in court by recognizing and understanding both distinctive characteristics of offending and courtroom behavior that may be exhibited in cases involving defendants with ASD. Recognizing the limited previous research on judges' understanding of ASD's legal relevance, this Article additionally provides judges guidance on three aspects of the legal process in which ASD may be forensically significant for defendants: fitness to stand trial, negating criminal elements necessary for criminal liability, and sentencing decisions. Finally, this Article puts forth recommendations for judges in order to improve the legal process for defendants with ASD.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

- I. IDENTIFYING DEFENDANTS WITH AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDER IN COURT
 - A. Distinctive Offending Characteristics
 - B. Social and Communication Impairments in the Courtroom
- II. EVALUATING DEFENDANTS WITH AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDER IN COURT: THE ROLE OF JUDGES
 - A. Previous Research
 - B. Considerations for Judges
 - 1. Fitness to stand trial
 - 2. Negating criminal elements
 - 3. Sentencing
- III. RECOMMENDATIONS
 - A. Reliance on Expert Assistance
 - B. Procedural Adjustments
 - C. Sentencing Alternatives

^{*} Assistant Professor, Rutgers University School of Criminal Justice. Ph.D., University of Pennsylvania; B.A., Harvard University. Dr. Berryessa's research examines discretion in the criminal justice system and how it may affect responses to criminal offending, specifically in courts. Direct correspondence to Colleen M. Berryessa, School of Criminal Justice, Rutgers University, 123 Washington Street, Newark, NJ 07102 (email: colleen.berryessa@rutgers.edu).

CONCLUSION

Introduction

Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) is a neurodevelopmental disorder marked by impairments in social interactions, communication, hypersensitivity, and systematic patterns of behavior. As its name indicates, the presentation and symptomology of ASD vary widely. Individuals with ASD with intellectual disability often have difficulty with basic life skills, such as living on their own or dealing with personal finances, and may also be nonverbal. Individuals with ASD without intellectual disability often hold jobs and have independent lives, but show a variety of characteristic social and communication impairments. There are many well-written overviews, both general and clinical, of issues related to the identification, presentation and psycho-social impact of ASD, which provide fuller, more detailed understandings of ASD than I could ever provide here.

Although the great majority of individuals with ASD are thought to be law-abiding,⁶ there are still a number of people with ASD that enter the criminal justice system as offenders,

¹ What is Autism Spectrum Disorder?, CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION, https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/autism/facts.html (last visited Aug 27, 2020).

² C. P. Johnson & S. M. Myers, *Identification and Evaluation of Children With Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 120 PEDIATRICS 1187 (2007).

³ Ami Klin et al., *Social and Communication Abilities and Disabilities in Higher Functioning Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorders: The Vineland and the ADOS*, 37 J. AUTISM & DEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS 748–752 (2006).

⁴ Susanna Baldwin, Debra Costley & Anthony Warren, *Employment Activities and Experiences of Adults with High-Functioning Autism and Asperger's Disorder*, 44 JOURNAL OF AUTISM AND DEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS 2440–2441 (2014).

⁵ See generally Anne Masi et al., An Overview of Autism Spectrum Disorder, Heterogeneity and Treatment Options, 33 NEUROSCIENCE BULLETIN 183–193 (2017); Samata R. Sharma, Xenia Gonda & Frank I. Tarazi, Autism Spectrum Disorder: Classification, diagnosis and therapy, 190 Pharmacology & Therapeutics 91–104 (2018); Lonnie Zwaigenbaum & Melanie Penner, Autism Spectrum Disorder: Advances in Diagnosis and Evaluation, 361 BMJ k1674 (2018).

⁶ Svend Erik Mouridsen et al., *Pervasive Developmental Disorders and Criminal Behaviour*, 52 International J. Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology 196 (2007). M. R. Woodbury-Smith et al., *High Functioning Autistic Spectrum Disorders, Offending and Other Law-Breaking: Findings from a Community Sample*, 17 J. Forensic Psychiatry & Psychology 108 (2006).

and ultimately defendants in cases, in the criminal court system.⁷ The involvement of individuals with ASD as defendants in our criminal justice system raises important questions in regards to their legal status and the appropriate legal response to offending behavior of diagnosed individuals. This presents challenges for even the most experienced criminal justice professionals, who are tasked with acting as their own "experts" in such cases.

This Article can be used as a tool kit for members of the judiciary in their interactions with defendants with ASD, and specifically looks to equip judges with knowledge, evidence, and resources on recognizing and understanding the symptoms of ASD to ensure judges better identify and handle diagnosed defendants. This will allow judges to ascertain effective communication with defendants, make appropriate accommodations in the legal process, and better guarantee just and fair consequences for defendants with ASD.

Part I of this Article focuses on how judges can identify defendants with ASD in court, focusing on understanding the distinctive characteristics of offending and courtroom behavior that may be exhibited by defendants with ASD. Part II focuses on the role of the judiciary in handling defendants with ASD in court. In addition to reviewing the limited previous research on judges' experiences with offenders with ASD in criminal court, this article identifies three specific considerations that judges must account for: (1) whether a defendant's fitness to stand trial is affected by an ASD diagnosis, (2) whether a defendant's ASD may negate criminal elements necessary for criminal liability, and (3) whether an ASD diagnosis should affect choices in and objectives of sentencing. Finally, this article puts forth three recommendations for

⁷ See generally Rachel L. Fazio, Christina A. Pietz & Robert L. Denney, An Estimate of the Prevalence of Autism-Spectrum Disorders in an Incarcerated Population, OPEN ACCESS JOURNAL OF FORENSIC PSYCHOLOGY (2012). ⁸ *Id*.

judges, related to expert assistance and procedural and sentencing adjustments, in order to improve the legal process for defendants with ASD.

I. IDENTIFYING DEFENDANTS WITH AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDER IN COURT

Unfortunately, existing research and caselaw demonstrates that judges are often unaware of the potential significance of ASD and its symptomology in contextualizing defendants' offending and courtroom behavior. In fact, many defendants' diagnoses are not known to the court. Thus, the potential nexus between features of ASD and involvement in the criminal justice system, both related to offending and behavior observed in court, may be overlooked during the legal process.

As such, unusual or maladaptive behaviors either demonstrated during offending or in court by a defendant with ASD may be misinterpreted, which may skew dispositional outcomes or potentially lead to prejudicial impressions. ¹² Thus, the court can avoid misapprehension of behaviors and characteristics typical of those with ASD, as evidence of guilt, indifference, or lack of remorse, if judges can identify patterns and characteristics of offending and courtroom behavior that are common to defendants with ASD due to their symptomatic presentations—especially if their diagnoses are not known. ¹³

⁹ т

⁹ Ian Freckelton, *Autism Spectrum Disorder: Forensic Issues and Challenges for Mental Health Professionals and Courts*, 26 JOURNAL OF APPLIED RESEARCH IN INTELLECTUAL DISABILITIES 420–421 (2013).

¹⁰ Sheena Foster, Autism Is Not a Tragedy-Ignorance Is: Suppressing Evidence of Asperger's Syndrome and High-Functioning Autism in Capital Trials Prejudices Defendants for a Death Sentence, 2 LINCOLN MEMORIAL UNIVERSITY LAW REVIEW 19–21 (2015).

¹¹ Eddie Chaplin, Jane Mccarthy & Andrew Forrester, *Defendants with Autism Spectrum Disorders: What is the Role of Court Liaison and Diversion?*, 3 ADVANCES IN AUTISM 220–223 (2017).

¹² Clare S Allely & Penny Cooper, Jurors' and Judges' Evaluation of Defendants with Autism and the Impact on Sentencing: A Systematic Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses (PRISMA) Review of Autism Spectrum Disorder in the Courtroom, 25 J. OF L. AND MEDICINE 107–110 (2017).

¹³ Colleen M. Berryessa et al., *Impact of Psychiatric Information on Potential Jurors in Evaluating High-Functioning Autism Spectrum Disorder (hfASD)*, 8 J. MENTAL HEALTH RESEARCH IN INTELLECTUAL DISABILITIES 140–144 (2015). Colleen M. Berryessa, *Judiciary Views on Ciminal Behaviour and Intention of Offenders with High-functioning Autism*, 5 J. INTELLECTUAL DISABILITIES AND OFFENDING BEHAVIOUR 97–100 (2014).

A. Distinctive Offending Characteristics

Although evidence has been greatly mixed and limited by methodological choices in research, ¹⁴ individuals with ASD without intellectual disability may demonstrate an elevated propensity toward arson, ¹⁵ stalking, ¹⁶ interpersonal violence, ¹⁷ sexual offenses, ¹⁸ or computer-related crime. ¹⁹ However, as research on the predisposition of individuals with ASD toward the commission of specific crime typologies is both inconsistent and inconclusive, ²⁰ conclusions are inherently limited on how ASD diagnoses may overlap with specific crime typologies.

Instead, judges will likely gain a much better understanding of the offending perpetrated by individuals with ASD through examining the characteristics of offenses, rather than types of offenses, committed by this population.²¹ Particularly, individuals with ASD without intellectual disability are those who are more likely to offend, relative to those individuals with ASD with intellectual disabilities.²² They most often offend in accordance with the presentation of ASD

4

¹⁴

¹⁵ Clare Sarah Allely, *Firesetting and Arson in Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Systematic PRISMA Review*, 10 JOURNAL OF INTELLECTUAL DISABILITIES AND OFFENDING BEHAVIOUR 89–101 (2019).

¹⁶ Johanna E. Mercer & Clare Sarah Allely, *Autism Spectrum Disorders and Stalking*, ahead-of-print JOURNAL OF CRIMINAL PSYCHOLOGY (2020).

¹⁷ Niklas Långström et al., *Risk Factors for Violent Offending in Autism Spectrum Disorder*, 24 JOURNAL OF INTERPERSONAL VIOLENCE 1358–1370 (2008). Michelle A. Fardella, Priscilla Burnham Riosa & Jonathan A. Weiss, *A Qualitative Investigation Of Risk And Protective Factors For Interpersonal Violence In Adults On The Autism Spectrum*, 33 DISABILITY & SOCIETY 1460–1481 (2018).

¹⁸ Melanie Clark Mogavero, *Autism, Sexual Offending, And The Criminal Justice System*, 7 JOURNAL OF INTELLECTUAL DISABILITIES AND OFFENDING BEHAVIOUR 116–126 (2016).

Kathryn C. Seigfried-Spellar, Casey L. Oquinn & Kellin N. Treadway, Assessing The Relationship Between Autistic Traits And Cyberdeviancy In A Sample Of College Students, 34 BEHAVIOUR & INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 533–542 (2014). Katy-Louise Payne et al., Is There a Relationship Between Cyber-Dependent Crime, Autistic-Like Traits and Autism?, 49 JOURNAL OF AUTISM AND DEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS 4159–4169 (2019).
 Svend Erik Mouridsen, Current status of research on autism spectrum disorders and offending, 6 RESEARCH IN AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDERS 83 (2012). Claire King & Glynis H. Murphy, A Systematic Review of People with Autism Spectrum Disorder and the Criminal Justice System, 44 JOURNAL OF AUTISM AND DEVELOPMENTAL

DISORDERS 2718–2719 (2014). ²¹ Allely, *supra* note 10, at 105–110. Neil Brewer & Robyn Young, Crime and Autism spectrum disorder: myths and mechanisms 152–158 (2015).

²² Marc R. Woodbury-Smith et al., *A case-control study of offenders with high functioning autistic spectrum disorders*, 16 JOURNAL OF FORENSIC PSYCHIATRY & PSYCHOLOGY 16–20 (2005).

symptoms, namely: (1) poor impulse and motor control, (2) narrow fixation on specific interests, (3) theory of mind deficits, and (4) lack of understanding of social and empathy cues.²³ Some of these symptoms and how they may coalesce with offending behavior are covered in this Article, including case examples.

Deficiencies in social interaction, associated with difficulties interpreting and responding to social cues, have been described as some of the most significant and enduring features of ASD in offending behavior.²⁴ Characteristics of ASD, including social naiveté and deficits in socioemotional reciprocity, may impair individuals with ASD in interpreting and responding to social situations appropriately, which may precipitate engagement in offending.²⁵ The British psychologist Simon Baron-Cohen uses the phrase "zero degrees of empathy" to characterize the difficulties and deficiencies in empathic concern for others that may be exhibited by defendants with ASD.²⁶

Often, individuals with ASD have difficulty in identifying the emotional or mental states (e.g., fear, anxiety) of others, and how to respond appropriately, which may contribute to offenses.²⁷ For example, a man named Nick with ASD without intellectual disability was convicted of the possession of child pornography after coming across it while using the internet

²

²³ Berryessa, *supra* note 11, at 97–100. Daniel C. Murrie et al., *Aspergers Syndrome in Forensic Settings*, 1 INT'L J. OF FORENSIC MENTAL HEALTH 59–70 (2002). Justin B Barry-Walsh & Paul E Mullen, *Forensic Aspects of Aspergers Syndrome*, 15 JOURNAL OF FORENSIC PSYCHIATRY & PSYCHOLOGY 96–107 (2004).

²⁴ King, supra note 17, at 2718. Tessa Grant et al., Criminal Responsibility In Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Critical Review Examining Empathy And Moral Reasoning, 59 CANADIAN PSYCHOLOGY/PSYCHOLOGIE CANADIENNE 65–70 (2018).

²⁵ Mouridsen, *supra* note 17, at 80–81. Barry-Walsh, *supra* note 19, at 96–99.

²⁶ SIMON BARON-COHEN, SCIENCE OF EVIL: ON EMPATHY AND THE ORIGINS OF CRUELTY 45 (2012).

²⁷ *Id.* at 15. Woodbury-Smith, *supra* note 6, at 109-110.

to explore his sexual identity.²⁸ However, as shown by his own reflection, Nick showed a severe lack of awareness of the full implications of accessing such materials:

At the time, I didn't understand that downloading free images on my computer in the privacy of my residence could lead to the severe legal consequences I later experienced. I also didn't understand at the time that the children in the images had been victimized in the process of creating those images. I honestly had no idea that I was causing harm to anyone. It is very embarrassing to admit that I needed to have this information spelled out for me, as I wasn't able to make that connection on my own. After my arrest, [my psychologist] spent considerable time explaining the issue of victim awareness to me. I was horrified to learn that these minors had been mistreated and that I had not been able to see that.²⁹

Social deficiencies associated with ASD, specifically naiveté or the inability to recognize the intentions of others, can also lead to offending.³⁰ Individuals with ASD may have difficulties making friendships, and may mistake malevolent intentions with friendship, leading to their risk of exploitation.³¹ In one case, police arrested a man with ASD after they saw stolen goods lined up in his apartment front window; it was later found that a local gang frequently used him to store items that they had stolen in exchange for allowing him to hang out with them.³²

Insensitivity to social cues and perspective taking (i.e. being able to understand a situation from another person's view) also renders individuals with ASD unable to respect or understand common, unspoken social rules, such as refraining from looking in people's windows, touching other people's possessions, or standing too close.³³ Further, social niceties may be mistaken as signs of romantic interest, leading to the pursuit of unwanted romantic

²⁸ Tony Attwood, Isabelle Henault & Nick Dubin, The Autism Spectrum, Sexuality and the Law: What Every Parent and Professional Needs to Know (2014).

²⁹ *Id.* at 99.

³⁰ Murrie, *supra* note 19, at 62–67.

³¹ Patricia Howlin, Autism and Asperger Syndrome: Preparing for Adulthood 323–324 (2004).

³² *Id.* At 306.

³³ Daniel P. Kennedy & Ralph Adolphs, *Violations of Personal Space by Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder*, 9 PLoS ONE 1–10 (2014).

relationships.³⁴ In one case, a man with ASD was charged with assault after rubbing a stranger's body after she briefly smiled at him as his attempt to try to "get to know her, to see if something would come out of it; a relationship or something."³⁵

Finally, those with ASD commonly exhibit repetitive or systematic behaviors, including "rituals" with unusual focuses, to reduce anxiety by enhancing predictability and routine.³⁶ Such behaviors may lead to offending however, when such behaviors or routines are disrupted—as individuals with ASD may exhibit reactive aggression when they are unable to complete their rituals.³⁷ For example, a man with ASD named "Joey" broke into a neighbor's house to watch a washing machine after the closure of his local laundromat.³⁸ Joey systematically watched the washing machines at the laundromat every day because it soothed him, and he needed to find another way to fulfill this routine when his laundromat closed.³⁹ However, when police officers arrived to escort him from the neighbor's home, he reactively punched one of the officers in his attempt to stay, resulting in additional assault charges.⁴⁰

B. Social and Communication Impairments in the Courtroom

In addition to offending characteristics, the courtroom behavior of defendants with ASD may also be affected by the symptomatic presentation of the disorder and may be misconstrued

³⁴ Michal Post et al., *Understanding Stalking Behaviors by Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorders and Recommended Prevention Strategies for School Settings*, 44 J. OF AUTISM AND DEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS 2698–2702 (2012).

³⁵ Ian Freckelton & David List, *Aspergers Disorder, Criminal Responsibility and Criminal Culpability*, 16 PSYCHIATRY, PSYCHOLOGY AND LAW 26 (2009).

³⁶ Santhana Gunasekaran, *Assessment and Management of Risk in Autism*, 6 ADVANCES IN MENTAL HEALTH AND INTELLECTUAL DISABILITIES 314–320 (2012).

³⁷ Howlin, *supra* note 27, 137-172.

³⁸ *Id.* 144, 304.

³⁹ *Id.* 144, 304.

⁴⁰ *Id.* 144, 304.

without knowledge of its symptoms. Social and communication impairments are the two main symptomatic features that may affect the courtroom experience of defendants with ASD.⁴¹

As individuals with ASD often have difficulty in appreciating the perspectives or subjective experiences of other people, defendants with the disorder may not exhibit expressions of empathy or may show inappropriate facial expressions that are counter to what is occurring in court at the time.⁴² For example, in one case, a defendant with ASD read a book while his alleged victim spoke on the stand, and smiled at her when she gave him eye contact during her testimony.⁴³

Other similar cases have involved defendants laughing when talking about victims or crimes in court proceedings.⁴⁴ Such behaviors may make defendants with ASD appear "cold and calculating," or lacking remorse for their actions, when in fact they are often unable to react in typical or socially accepted ways.⁴⁵ Defendants with ASD may also say things that appear to be inappropriate and callous.⁴⁶ Indeed, without knowledge of ASD, these expressions could very well be misinterpreted as indicative of arrogance, dishonesty, or guilt.⁴⁷

Defendants with ASD also may show no interest in court proceedings, such as avoiding eye contact with judges, attorneys, or other individuals in the courtroom during pretrial hearings and trial proceedings.⁴⁸ Individuals with ASD often reduce eye contact in stressful situations as a

⁴¹ Colleen M. Berryessa, *Educator Of The Court: The Role Of The Expert Witness In Cases Involving Autism Spectrum Disorder*, 23 PSYCHOLOGY, CRIME & LAW 589, 594–596 (2017).

⁴² Dennis Debbaudt, Autism, advocates and law enforcement professionals: recognizing and reducing risk situations for people with autism spectrum disorders 18 (2002).

⁴³ Sultan v R, EWCA Crim 6 (23 January 2008).

⁴⁴ Allely, *supra* note 10, at 108.

⁴⁵ *Id.* at 120.

⁴⁶ *Id.* at 107–109.

⁴⁷ Freckelton, *supra* note 31, at 31. Barbara G. Haskins & J. Arturo Silva, *Asperger's Disorder And Criminal Behavior: Forensic-Psychiatric Considerations*, 34 J. Am. ACAD. PSYCHIATRY LAW 379 (2006).

⁴⁸ Nigel Archer & Elisabeth Ann Hurley, *A Justice System Failing The Autistic Community*, 4 J. of Intellectual Disabilities and Offending Behaviour 53 (2013).

way to help reduce the extent of their stimulation and potential anxiety.⁴⁹ However, observers may mistakenly interpret such behavior as shame or evidence that they cannot own up to their behavior.⁵⁰

Aside from atypical social behaviors, individuals with ASD may exhibit uncommon verbal or speaking patterns.⁵¹ Sometimes their phrasing is unusual, nonsensical, and exceedingly formal.⁵² They may take a long time to answer questions, which may appear evasive.⁵³ They may also suddenly shout out unrelated words or phrases, which might come across as rude; they may misinterpret or "nit-pick" questions asked of them during questioning or cross-examination.⁵⁴ For instance, defendants may fail to pick up on cues which signal the end of a line of questioning, or attempt to shift the conversation to a topic of their interest.⁵⁵ Such behavior may be misunderstood as the defendant being "cagey," or unwilling to discuss a particular area or answer questions.⁵⁶ As another example, when questioned in his jury trial, a defendant with ASD instigated "arguments with the prosecutor over comparatively trivial detail, while failing, unless re-directed, to confront the underlying and critical question."⁵⁷ Indeed, when interacting with individuals during the court process, defendants with ASD may exhibit difficulties in understanding or responding to non-literal language, such as metaphors, irony, or sarcasm.⁵⁸

⁴⁹ Allely, *supra* note 10, at 109.

⁵⁰ *Id.* at 109–110.

⁵¹ Joanne Mccann & Sue Peppé, *Prosody In Autism Spectrum Disorders: A Critical Review*, 38 INT'L J. OF LANGUAGE & COMMUNICATION DISORDERS 325–350 (2003).

⁵² Freckelton, *supra* note 31, at 30.

⁵³ Allely, *supra* note 10, at 109

⁵⁴ *Id.* at 108–109, 118.

⁵⁵ *Id.* at 109.

⁵⁶ Murrie, *supra* note 19, at 60.

⁵⁷ Thompson v R. EWCA Crim 836 (02 May 2014).

⁵⁸ Allely, *supra* note 10, at 108.

In addition to language, individuals with ASD may also display odd or pedantic speaking rhythms.⁵⁹ Defendants with ASD may show flat, monotonous verbal affect, including when talking about emotional topics.⁶⁰ In one case, a man on trial for the murder of his mother exhibited monotonous speaking patterns with an awkward, "robotic rhythm" during his questioning.⁶¹ His attorney worried that his manner of speaking may cause him prejudice in sentencing.⁶²

II. EVALUATING DEFENDANTS WITH AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDER IN COURT: THE ROLE OF JUDGES

In addition to judges' general unawareness of the potential significance of ASD in contextualizing defendants' offending and courtroom behavior, literature has expressed concerns about how the court's lack of understanding on the forensic relevance of ASD may also negatively impact legal decisions made on behalf of defendants with ASD.⁶³ The relatively little research on judges' views of defendants with ASD, as reviewed below, indicates that judges are often unsure if and how ASD and its symptoms should affect their evaluations of a defendant at different stages of the legal process.⁶⁴

In order to provide some guidance on aspects of the legal process in which ASD may be forensically significant, this Article discusses three areas that judges must consider: (1) whether an ASD diagnosis affects a defendant's fitness to stand trial, (2) whether a defendant's ASD may

⁵⁹ Uta Frith, *A New Look At Language And Communication In Autism*, 24 INT'L J. OF LANGUAGE & COMMUNICATION DISORDERS 123–150 (1989).

⁶⁰ Haskins, *supra* note 39, at 19. Freckelton, *supra* note 31, at 32.

⁶¹ Freckelton, supra note 8, at 421. See State of Western Australia v Mack, WASC 445 (2012).

 $^{^{62}}$ *Id*.

⁶³ Allely, *supra* note 10, at 110-119.

⁶⁴ See generally Berryessa, supra note 11, at 97-104. Colleen M. Berryessa, Brief Report: Judicial Attitudes Regarding the Sentencing of Offenders with High Functioning Autism, 46 J. OF AUTISM AND DEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS 2770–2773 (2016). Colleen M Berryessa, Judicial Perceptions of Media Portrayals of Offenders with High Functioning Autistic Spectrum Disorders, 3 Int'l J. OF Criminology and Sociology 45–60 (2014).

negate criminal elements necessary for criminal liability, and (3) whether an ASD diagnosis should affect choices in and objectives of sentencing.

A. Previous Research

Only a few interview-based, qualitative studies have examined how judges think about ASD as it relates to the criminal court process.⁶⁵ These few studies have come from the same sample of interviews of trial court judges in California, but do span a variety of different issues that judges may encounter in cases involving defendants with ASD.⁶⁶

Some judges in these studies reported some previous case experience with defendants with ASD, but the majority had never seen the diagnosis in their courtrooms.⁶⁷ Almost all judges, however, did have some type of personal experience with ASD, which they believed they had previously and would continue to draw from in potential forensic considerations involving the disorder.⁶⁸ However, personal experiences did not mean that judges felt they were familiar or knowledgeable about ASD, and admitted they generally knew very little about it and its potential forensic relevance.⁶⁹

One inquiry examined judges' perceptions of how a diagnosis with ASD may affect a defendant's capacity to control behavior and whether it may impact the ability to formulate criminal intent (i.e., mens rea).⁷⁰ In discussing these issues, judges described their understanding that individuals with ASD may be "predisposed" to behave in certain ways or exhibit particular behaviors because of the symptomology of the disorder.⁷¹ However, judges also expressed

⁶⁵ *Id*.

⁶⁶ Id.

⁶⁷ Berryessa, *supra* note 11, at 100.

⁶⁸ Id.

⁶⁹ *Id.* at 104.

⁷⁰ *Id.* at 102–104.

⁷¹ *Id.* at 102–103.

uncertainty with regard to how this "predisposition" may be relevant to evaluating criminal intent or even important for sentencing decisions, and were unsure of how to factor it in to their considerations.⁷² Additionally, judges were unsure of how the disorder may act as a mitigating factor to either responsibility or sentencing by altering the ability to commit a "willful criminal act."⁷³

Another study with this sample examined judges' perceptions of how a defendant's diagnosis with ASD may affect their choices in sentencing. A Most judges reported that a defendant's diagnosis with ASD would be a significant consideration in sentencing decisions, particularly because it is important to understand if the offending behavior was related to the diagnosis. Judges were mixed, however, as to whether the diagnosis's connection to offending would be considered mitigating or aggravating to sentencing. Most judges questioned whether a defendant's responsibility for his actions may be mitigated if they are influenced by his symptomatic presentation. They also believed that the prison environment may be toxic and potentially useless for defendants with ASD, and that they would likely attempt to prioritize alternatives to incarceration for defendants with ASD.

Yet, a few judges said they might consider a diagnosis with ASD to be aggravating to sentencing, in so far as it may lead an individual to be at a higher risk to offend in the future, due

⁷² *Id.* at 103–104.

⁷³ *Id.* at 102.

⁷⁴ Berryessa (2016), *supra* note 53.

⁷⁵ *Id.* at 2771–2772.

⁷⁶ *Id*.

⁷⁷ *Id*.

⁷⁸ *Id.* at 2772.

to the disorder's impairments to impulse control in certain situations.⁷⁹ Judges believed this could pose an issue to public safety, which could lead to the choice to incarcerate.⁸⁰

Overall, although sympathetic to those with the diagnosis, judges were unsure if and how information on ASD should inform their sentencing decisions, or even what types of information they should draw on in such decisions.⁸¹ Additionally, even those that supported alternatives to incarceration were still unsure of which types of sentences may be appropriate, and if the criminal justice system even has the ability or resources to offer such diversionary measures.⁸²

A final study, using the same interview sample, investigated judges' views on how knowledge of ASD may be skewed by media coverage and "myths" about the disorder and its relationship to criminality, and how such views may impact both public and criminal contexts. ⁸³ Judges generally believed that the media is one of the main ways that the public, as well as other judges, learns about ASD and its features. ⁸⁴ However, sometimes media coverage can be misleading and harmful when it connects the diagnosis with acts of violence. ⁸⁵

Around the time these interviews were conducted, the Sandy Hook shooting in Newtown, Connecticut had recently occurred.⁸⁶ Judges were specifically asked to discuss the ways in which media coverage of the shooting, and the media's connection between the perpetrator's alleged ASD and his actions, had impacted their and the public's views of ASD.⁸⁷ Although they stated that their views were unaffected by such coverage, they expressed concern that coverage of the

⁷⁹ *Id.* at 2772–2773.

⁸⁰ *Id*.

⁸¹ *Id*

⁸² *Id.* at 2772.

⁸³ Berryessa (2014), *supra* note 53, at 46–60.

⁸⁴ *Id.* at 53.

⁸⁵ *Id*.

⁸⁶

⁸⁶ *Id.* at 49.

⁸⁷ *Id.* at 50

shooting misled and negatively informed the public, and other judges, on the relationship between ASD and violence.⁸⁸ Judges did express fear that such media coverage could negatively affect the legal process by fueling misperceptions of the disorder and its relationship to criminality.⁸⁹

B. Considerations for Judges

Given this existing research suggests that judges need guidance on the forensic relevance of ASD in their evaluations of an autistic defendant in different stages of the legal process, this Article provides three considerations that judges should contemplate during the legal process in cases involving defendants with ASD. Specifically, judges must consider the significance and effects of ASD before prosecution even begins (fitness to stand trial), in responsibility determinations for criminal liability (criminal elements), and in sentencing proceedings.

1. Fitness to stand trial

Judges should consider how symptomology of ASD may complicate an individual's participation in and comprehension of the legal process during criminal proceedings. Difficulties in understanding and integrating nuanced language may create problems for defendants with ASD in interpreting questions asked by judges or attorneys, or the implications of legal decisions made on their behalf.⁹⁰ Studies of defendants with ASD have identified a range of difficulties related to their fitness to stand trial, including (1) poor understanding of the legal process, (2) the nature of the charges against them, (3) the roles of the judge, attorneys, and other courtroom

⁸⁸ Id. at 54-56.

⁸⁹ *Id.* at 53–54.

⁹⁰ Kimberly Taylor, Gary Mesibov & Dennis Debbaudt, AUTISM IN THE CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM AUTISM RISK MANAGEMENT 4 (2009), https://www.autismriskmanagement.com/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/Autism Criminal Justice.pdf (last visited Aug 28, 2020).

personnel, (4) implications of pleas, and (5) difficulties communicating with legal representation.⁹¹

Further, anxiety incurred by the court process may lead defendants with ASD to stop speaking or engaging in the legal process, and they may show maladaptive coping behaviors. 92 Unfortunately, this may impact whether they are able to meaningfully participate in their trials or aid their lawyers in their defenses. 93 Notwithstanding these issues, literature that has reviewed cases involving defendants with ASD suggests that most often they are ruled fit to stand trial without question. 94

For these reasons, judges should be careful in potentially overestimating and overlooking the fitness of defendants with ASD to stand trial. This is primarily important for defendants with ASD who have average or above average intelligence and whose level of impairment may not be readily apparent. Pather, judges should consider how the court may accommodate defendants with ASD with respect to their abilities to understand and follow the legal process. Accommodations that may "restore" fitness to stand trial need not be lofty—they can be as simple as attorneys, judges, or others in the courtroom taking steps to familiarize the defendant with the courtroom, simplifying language used during questioning, and effectively communicating about the nature and nuances of the legal process. One defendant with ASD,

_

commenting on his ability to understand the legal process, said it was his lawyer and other court

⁹¹ David Allen et al., Offending Behaviour in Adults with Asperger Syndrome, 38 JOURNAL OF AUTISM AND DEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS 748–758 (2007). R. J. Brewer, G. M. Davies & N. J. Blackwood, Fitness to Plead: The Impact of Autism Spectrum Disorder, 16 JOURNAL OF FORENSIC PSYCHOLOGY PRACTICE 182–197 (2016). ⁹² Taylor, supra note 89, at 4–9.

⁹³ Id

⁹⁴ Barry-Walsh, *supra* note 19, at 96–107. Allen, *supra* note 90, at 748–58.

⁹⁵ Taylor, *supra* note 71, at 3–9.

⁹⁶ Jenny Talbot, FAIR ACCESS TO JUSTICE? SUPPORT FOR VULNERABLE DEFENDANTS IN THE CRIMINAL COURTS (2012), http://www.prisonreformtrust.org.uk/Portals/0/Documents/FairAccesstoJustice.pdf (last visited Aug 28, 2020).

personnel that made all the difference: "[my lawyer] explained the court process to me, and the other couple of guys who saw me...they explained everything to me." Although such strategies may slow the trial process, they will be integral to ensuring the to ensuring defendants with ASD, and particularly those without intellectual disability, will be able to stand trial and will be treated more equitably.

2. Negating criminal elements

In cases involving ASD, judges should consider whether the disorder may negate the essential criminal elements that are necessary for establishing a defendant's criminal liability. Previous research has found that although judges may understand that defendants with ASD "view the world" in a unique way, they still are unsure if and how the disorder and its symptomology may affect a defendant's ability to formulate intent, and how to consider it in their rulings. Indeed, judges should consider whether ASD may affect and potentially negate a defendant's ability to formulate the appropriate state of mind to commit certain criminal acts (i.e., mens rea, meaning "guilty mind"). 99

This consideration is likely most relevant for specific intent crimes, which are crimes in which the prosecution must prove that the defendant had the desire to commit a specific crime in order to accomplish a specific outcome. ASD may alter a defendant's specific intent, in that the symptomology of the disorder may hinder an individual from controlling or projecting the full potential and consequences of his actions. For example, in *U.S. v. Cottrell*, the U.S. Court

⁹⁷ Allen, *supra* note 72, at 755.

⁹⁸ Berryessa, *supra* note 11, at 99-104.

⁹⁹ Christine N. Cea, Autism and the Criminal Defendant, 88 St. John's Law Review 505–506 (2014).

¹⁰⁰ *Id.* Specific intent, Legal Information Institute, https://www.law.cornell.edu/wex/specific_intent (last visited Aug 29, 2020).

¹⁰¹ Cea, *supra* note 79, 505–506.

of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit reversed the district court's decision to exclude expert testimony regarding the defendant's ASD diagnosis. The defendant was charged with aiding and abetting—a specific intent crime. Ninth Circuit reasoned that the defendant's ASD diagnosis was relevant because it "was aimed at defeating an inference of Cottrell's intent from the circumstances." Thus, the conviction was vacated because the defendant's ASD diagnosis was improperly excluded.

In one case, a defendant with ASD, whose ASD diagnosis was excluded in his original trial, appealed his conviction for crimes related to aiding and abetting an arson, which is a specific intent crime. ¹⁰⁶ The court found that evidence of the defendant's ASD was relevant to specific intent and could have affected the court's determination of whether his disorder negated the specific intent required for his crimes, as intent is subjective, and vacated his conviction based on the exclusion of his diagnosis in the original trial. ¹⁰⁷

Judges may also want to reflect on how a defendant's ASD may negate the actus reus, meaning "guilty act," of his or her crimes because the symptomology may provide an alternative explanation for the action itself.¹⁰⁸ A prime example of this involves a case in which a defendant was arrested and convicted of driving under the influence of a controlled substance by demonstrating impairment.¹⁰⁹ The arresting officer testified that the defendant "appeared shaken

¹⁰² United States v. Cottrel, 333 F. App'x 213, 216–17 (9th Cir. 2009).

¹⁰³ *Id.* at 216.

¹⁰⁴ *Id*.

¹⁰⁵ Id

¹⁰⁶ United States v. Cottrel, 333 F. App'x 213–216 (9th Cir. 2009).

¹⁰⁷ Id

¹⁰⁸ Cea, *supra* note 79, 504–505.

¹⁰⁹ State v. Suber, No. A06-2438, 2008 WL 942622 1–5 (Minn. Ct. App. Apr. 8, 2008).

and jittery" by not giving him eye contact, and the defendant performed poorly during a sobriety field exercise by exhibiting "robotic type movements." ¹¹⁰

Upon appeal, evidence of the defendant's ASD became known, including how his symptomology presented itself as "stiff, wooden, and mechanical" movements and social anxieties, including a lack of eye contact. Ultimately the conviction was reversed, as the court reasoned that there was insufficient evidence that the defendant had actually been under the influence and the arresting officer had not considered how the defendant's ASD may have affected his behavior and sobriety test at the arrest. The defendant's "impairment" was actually due to his diagnosis, and not marijuana as the arresting officer had thought. Thus, judges must consider whether ASD symptomology may provide an alternative explanation not only for the defendant's state of mind, but also for the action itself.

3. Sentencing

Judges who have participated in previous ASD research have expressed disparate views as to the ways in which they believe ASD may impact sentencing deliberations, which could potentially lead to differential outcomes.¹¹⁴ Judges should consider how a defendant's ASD may change both the objectives of and choices in sentencing.

Judges should consider weighing whether a defendant's ASD should be a mitigating factor to sentencing. Although considered a statutory mitigating factor in some states, ¹¹⁵ the mitigating impact of an ASD diagnosis often relies on the sentencing judge's discretion and

¹¹⁰ *Id*. at 2.

¹¹¹ *Id*. at 3.

¹¹² *Id.* at 5–6.

¹¹³ IA

¹¹⁴ Berryessa (2016), *supra* note 53, at 2771–2772.

¹¹⁵ Cea, *supra* note 79, 522.

consideration regarding the facts of the case, clinical history, and expert testimony. ASD diagnoses are often raised as mitigating factors because the symptomology of ASD may reduce the moral blameworthiness of an offender, who may not be able to understand the impact of his actions. 117

Research suggests that although individuals with ASD may cognitively understand that their behavior is considered illegal, they often still do not appreciate its social and emotional implications, especially for victims of their crimes. In one case, a woman with ASD wrote letters to classmates in search of friendship, and was arrested when the letters, after having gone unanswered, became threatening. She continued to send these letters, despite warnings from the police and clear communication from the letters' recipients that she should stop, demonstrating her inability to perceive and understand the impact of her actions on the letter recipients.

Judges should also consider the potential impact of a prison or jail sentence on a defendant with ASD. Prison or jail settings can cause anxiety, acting out, and reactive aggression in response to stressors, while social naïveté may increase defendants' likelihood to be victimized, exploited, or manipulated by other prisoners. Misinterpretation of unwritten social cues and rules may cause conflict between defendants with ASD and other prisoners, and

1

¹¹⁶ Thomas A. Mayes, *Persons with Autism and Criminal Justice*, 5 J. of Positive Behavior Interventions 95 (2003).

¹¹⁷ Freckelton, *supra* note 31, at 32–35.

¹¹⁸ Lorna Wing, Aspergers Syndrome: Management Requires Diagnosis, 8 J. OF FORENSIC PSYCHIATRY 255 (1997).

¹¹⁹ Luke Beardon, ASPERGER SYNDROME AND PERCEIVED OFFENDING CONDUCT: A QUALITATIVE STUDY, SHEFFIELD HALLAM UNIVERSITY RESEARCH ARCHIVE (SHURA) 139–145 (2008), http://shura.shu.ac.uk/7155/6/10694214.pdf (last visited Aug 29, 2020).

¹²⁰ *Id.* at 141–145.

¹²¹ Caitlin E. Robertson & Jane A. Mcgillivray, *Autism Behind Bars: A Review Of The Research Literature And Discussion Of Key Issues*, 26 J. OF FORENSIC PSYCHIATRY & PSYCHOLOGY 723–730 (2015).

potentially result in physical injuries.¹²² Further, communication deficits associated with ASD may hinder interactions with prison staff, security staff, and other inmates.¹²³

Finally, judges should consider weighing whether a defendant's ASD should affect the objective of a sentence all together¹²⁴. In one case, a defendant with ASD was found guilty for possession of child pornography and was sentenced to eight years in prison.¹²⁵ A defense expert testified that the due to the defendant's disorder, he likely would be victimized by other inmates and staff might misunderstand his behaviors due to his social impairments.¹²⁶ The expert also testified that the defendant likely would not gain any benefit from being incarcerated.¹²⁷ Ultimately, when asked about his time in prison, the defendant explained that he completed math questions in prison and learned that his math skills could bring him a lot of money when he got out of prison.¹²⁸ He only understood how prison benefited him, and did not express any understanding that he or his actions were wrong or that incarceration helped him learn his lesson or change his life.¹²⁹

Ultimately, punishment for individuals with ASD should be "just long enough for the message to be effective."¹³⁰ However, the previous defendant's response suggests that incarceration may not always provide the appropriate message, or objective, in punishment, regardless of sentence length, to allow for change.

¹²² *Id.* at 725–726.

¹²³ *Id.* at 725, 729–730.

¹²⁴ For more information on theories of punishment that sentences aim to achieve (i.e. retribution, deterrence, incapacitation, restoration, rehabilitation), see generally Michael Tonry, *Purposes and Functions of Sentencing*, 34 CRIME AND JUSTICE 1–52 (2006).

¹²⁵ United States v. Morais, 670 F.3d 891 (8th Cir. 2012).

¹²⁶ Morais, (No. 11-1793), 2011 WL 2604025, at 12–15.

¹²⁷ *Id*.

¹²⁸ Id. 21–23.

¹²⁹ *Id*.

¹³⁰ John Clements & Ewa Zarkowska, Behavioural Concerns and Autistic Spectrum Disorders: Explorations and Strategies for Change 212 (2001).

III. RECOMMENDATIONS

The involvement of individuals with ASD as defendants in our criminal justice system presents challenges for even the most experienced judges. ¹³¹ In order for judges to establish effective communication with defendants and make appropriate accommodations in the legal process, this Article provides three recommendations for judges—utilizing expert assistance, and making procedural and sentencing adjustments—to improve the legal process for defendants with ASD.

A. Reliance on Expert Assistance

Knowledge of ASD and its symptoms is fundamentally imperative for judges in trials involving defendants with the disorder. Having a basic background knowledge on the disorder and its forensic relevance, as laid out in this Article, is important. However, judges should additionally utilize expert assistance to assess how ASD may be relevant to understanding offending behavior and sentencing considerations, and whether any procedural adjustments to the legal process are necessary.

Expert witnesses are often thought of as "educators" to the court, and have significantly more information and training in their respective areas than members of the court. Experts have years of past case and often clinical experiences that shape their perspectives on what information is relevant and necessary for judges and other members of the court to know.

For example, one of the objectives in a criminal case involving a defendant with ASD is to identify the ways in which a defendant's disorder may have been associated with the

¹³¹ Taylor, *supra* note 71, at 1.

¹³² Berryessa, *supra* note 34, at 578.

¹³³ John A. Auxier, *The Role of the Expert Witness*, 117 RADIATION RESEARCH 178–180 (1989).

¹³⁴ Berryessa, *supra* note 34, at 593–597.

commission of the alleged offense.¹³⁵ Experts are able to use their knowledge store and training on ASD to act as "reconstructionists" by retroactively assessing the forensic relevance of the disorder to the crime on trial.¹³⁶ Another role that experts may fulfill is that of "myth-dispellers" by using education to dismiss inaccurate misunderstandings about ASD and its symptoms.¹³⁷

Yet, arguably the most important role of experts is that of "communicators" who educate the court on the legal aspects of ASD and distinctive ways in which the symptoms of ASD affect behavior and daily life. Experts are able to communicate to judges about not only how a defendant's ASD may be forensically relevant to offending and fact finding, but how it may manifest in the courtroom or should be considered in legal outcomes. For example, experts may be able to explicate if and how a defendant's ASD may affect choices with regard to if and what environment may be appropriate for an individual with ASD in sentencing. 139

Experts have stressed that their services are often necessary to edify the court on ASD in order to better ensure more positive outcomes for defendants with ASD, and have expressed concerns that judges and other court personnel may rely on limited or inaccurate knowledge of ASD in decision-making without expert assistance. Thus, although having a basic understanding of ASD's forensic relevance is fundamental, judges should benefit and take advantage of such proficiency, experience, and knowledge by calling in clinical and legal experts on ASD whenever necessary.

B. Procedural Adjustments

¹³⁵ *Id.* at 584–585.

¹³⁶ *Id.* at 594.

¹³⁷ *Id.* at 595–596.

¹³⁸ *Id.* at 594–596.

¹³⁹ *Morais, supra* note 101, at 12–15.

¹⁴⁰ Berryessa, *supra* note 34, at 590–591.

As defendants with ASD may have difficulty understanding the legal process and in conforming their behavior to social norms in the courtroom, judges should consider whether procedural adjustments are necessary to the legal process in cases involving ASD.

Certain modifications to ensure defendants with ASD are fit to stand trial, such as familiarizing the defendant with the courtroom, simplifying language used during questioning, or effective communication during the legal process, have been discussed above. Hore generally, judges should adopt general adjustments to verbal communication in court by requiring court personnel to speak in a clear, calm, and non-threatening manner, avoid providing complex instructions that may be misinterpreted, avoid body language that may be perceived as threatening to those with ASD and cause them anxiety, and be patient and repeat things when necessary. Accordingly, judges should provide some sort of specific training of court personnel on how to enact such behaviors in court.

Sometimes noisy or overly stimulating environments may overwhelm individuals with ASD; even something neurotypical people may never even think twice about, like overhead lights, can be too stimulating for those with ASD.¹⁴³ As such, judges should consider making adjustments to the courtroom, as a sensory environment, such as limiting distractions, lowering lighting, or removing anything or anyone that may lead to a "sensory overload."¹⁴⁴

Finally, comprehension will likely not be "one size fits all." It is important to remember that defendants with ASD may understand one question perfectly but be unable to understand the meaning or content of other questions, even if they are related or about similar things.¹⁴⁵ Judges

¹⁴¹ See supra Section II.B.1.

¹⁴² Taylor, *supra* note 71, at 1, 6.

¹⁴³ *Id.* at 7.

¹⁴⁴ *Id*.

¹⁴⁵ *Id.* at 3, 9.

should consider whether they or other court personnel should write or draw something in order to aid in a defendant's comprehension, especially if he or she has overwhelming difficulties with verbal communication.¹⁴⁶

C. Sentencing Alternatives

In conjunction with the discussion on sentencing above, ¹⁴⁷ judges should consider whether defendants with ASD may be more likely to benefit from alternative, non-incarceration-based sentences with more holistic, and less retributive, objectives. As incarceration may increase the risk of a defendant with ASD being exploited, physically harmed, or socially isolated, ¹⁴⁸ this vulnerability should be considered when weighing whether prison is appropriate for a defendant. For individuals with ASD, non-incarceration-based sentences may be more effective to rehabilitate the defendant, whereas incarceration may be more taxing and toxic for defendants with ASD as compared to other prisoners. ¹⁴⁹

Rather, if possible, defendants with ASD may benefit from diversion or probation programs that provide clear expectations and guidelines for defendants to follow, integrate the participation of families or other trusted contacts, and work to rehabilitate and change, rather than punish, offending behavior. Such programs may be far more effective than incarceration in preventing defendants with ASD from making future contact with the justice system again.

However, if an individual with ASD is incarcerated for any period of time, it is important to notify corrections personnel about the defendant and his disorder, and even suggest potential

¹⁴⁷ See supra Section II.B.3.

¹⁴⁶ *Id.* at 6–7.

¹⁴⁸ See generally Robertson, supra note 97.

¹⁴⁹ Cea, *supra* note 79, 525–527.

¹⁵⁰ Cristian Raggi et al., Adults with Autism Spectrum Disorder And Learning Disability Presenting With Challenging Behaviour: How Tolerant Should We Be?, 4 J. OF INTELLECTUAL DISABILITIES AND OFFENDING BEHAVIOUR 42 (2013).

modifications.¹⁵¹ For example, judges may want to recommend that a defendant be segregated from general population, or monitored by prison doctors or medical personnel. Apprising corrections officials of a defendant's ASD is absolutely imperative in order to provide more appropriate prison or jail conditions and services if a defendant is to be incarcerated.

CONCLUSION

Although the knowledge, considerations, and recommendations put forth here for judges should begin to help build some groundwork on these issues, this Article is only a first step.

Judges have admitted that they have limited knowledge on the forensic relevance of ASD, which impairs their abilities to make fair and informed legal decisions. They should ask their jurisdictions to develop and implement specially designed education programs, conferences, and workshops on ASD. This will provide at least a foundational understanding of how to identify a defendant's ASD, if undiagnosed, and the potential legal considerations that may arise if a defendant has ASD.

In order to tackle complicated cases involving more technical knowledge, existing research across a variety of topical areas increasingly suggests the need for judicial training and education in cases involving complex and scientific subject matter that is likely outside of a judge's wheelhouse. Judicial training on ASD is no different, and should cover both legally-relevant and clinical facets, such as symptomology, offending, implications for sentencing, and best practices for judges and other legal professionals.

¹⁵¹ Taylor, *supra* note 71, at 8.

¹⁵² Berryessa, *supra* note 11, at 104.

¹⁵³ E.g. Colleen M. Berryessa, Judges' Views On Evidence Of Genetic Contributions To Mental Disorders In Court, 27 J. OF FORENSIC PSYCHIATRY & PSYCHOLOGY 586–600 (2016). Colleen M. Berryessa, Potential Impact of Research on Adolescent Development on Juvenile Judge Decision-making, 69 JUVENILE AND FAMILY COURT JOURNAL 19–38 (2018). Colleen M. Berryessa, Judicial Stereotyping Associated with Genetic Essentialist Biases toward Mental Disorders and Potential Negative Effects on Sentencing, 53 L. & Soc. Rev. 202–238 (2018). Colleen M. Berryessa & Jillian Reeves, The Perceptions of Juvenile Judges Regarding Adolescent Development in Evaluating Juvenile Competency, 110 J. OF CRIMINAL LAW AND CRIMINOLOGY 550–591 (2020).

Ultimately, judges must be equipped with appropriate awareness, evidence, and resources to be able to recognize and understand the symptoms of ASD and to better identify and communicate with diagnosed defendants. Not only does this allow for judges to make appropriate accommodations in the legal process, but a more holistic understanding of ASD's forensic relevance to each aspect of the legal process will maximize positive outcomes and legal consequences for defendants with ASD in our criminal court system.